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Management’s Responsibility 

To the Shareholders of Emerald Health Therapeutics, Inc.: 

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

and accompanying note disclosures in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This 

responsibility includes selection of appropriate accounting policies and principles as well as decisions 

related to significant estimates and areas of judgement. 

In discharging its responsibility to support the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial 

statements, management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal 

controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded, and 

financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information. 

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for overseeing management’s performance of its 

responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control. The Audit Committee of the Company, which 

is composed of non-executive directors, meets with management as well as the external auditors to 

ensure that management is properly fulfilling its financial reporting responsibilities to the Board of 

Directors who approve the financial statements. The external auditors have unrestricted access to the 

Audit Committee to discuss the scope of their audits and the adequacy of the system of internal controls. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte LLP. Their report outlines the scope 

of their examination and opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

May 1, 2021 

/s/   Riaz Bandali /s/ Jenn Hepburn 
Chief Executive Officer and President Chief Financial Officer 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

 

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of 
Emerald Health Therapeutics, Inc. 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Emerald Health Therapeutics, Inc. (the 
"Company"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 
and 2019, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards ("Canadian 
GAAS"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company had a loss for 
the year ended December 31, 2020 of $43,539 and accumulated losses since inception of $207,148. As 
stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that 
a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management's 
Discussion and Analysis.  
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on 
the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company’s or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.  
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jayana Darras.  

 

/s/ Deloitte LLP 

Chartered Professional Accountants  
Vancouver, British Columbia 

May 1, 2021 
 
 

 
 

 



EMERALD HEALTH THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Amounts reflected in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts)

December 31 December 31

2020 2019

ASSETS

Current
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2 (d)) 25,998$                      2,525$                  
Accounts receivable (Note 3) 1,992                          1,925                    
Receivable from Joint Venture Sale (Note 20) 20,286                        -                            
Biological assets (Note 4) 969                              4,159                    
Inventory (Note 5) 4,611                          6,588                    
Prepaid expenses 1,135                          327                       
Due from related parties (Note 10) 50                                201                       

Total current assets 55,041                        15,725                  

Plant and equipment (Note 6) 34,531                        41,400                  
Plant under construction (Note 6) 5,411                          8,407                    
Deposits on materials and equipment (Note 6) 214                              886                       
Refundable deposits 575                              196                       
Intangible assets (Note 8) 1,859                          19,526                  
Right-of-use assets (Note 17) 509                              5,628                    
Goodwill -                                   169                       
Long-term investment (Note 15) 134                              81                         
Investment in joint venture (Note 20) -                                   64,603                  

Total non-current assets 43,233                        140,896               

TOTAL ASSETS 98,274$                      156,621$             

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (Note 22 (d)) 11,019$                      10,941$               
Deferred payment (Note 9) 9,375                          7,818                    
Payable to joint venture (Note 20) -                                   710                       
Due to related parties (Note 10) 1,619                          6,218                    
Lease liability (Note 17) 651                              1,297                    

Total current liabilities 22,664                        26,984                  

Lease liability (Note 17) 3,464                          4,647                    
CEBA loan (Note 2(e)) 40                                -                            
Convertible debenture (Note 11) -                                   21,823                  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 26,168$                      53,454$               

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 12) 249,763                      237,151               
Warrants (Note 14) 1,718                          2,449                    
Convertible debt reserves (Note 11) -                                   383                       
Contributed surplus 29,126                        28,146                  
Accumulated deficit (207,148)                     (164,196)              

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 73,459                        103,933               
Non-controlling interest  (Note 2 and 7) (1,353)                         (766)                      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 98,274$                      156,621$             

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1)
Events after the reporting period (Note 24)

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

/s/ Punit Dhillon /s/ Jim Heppell

Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EMERALD HEALTH THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Amounts reflected in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts)

Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31

2020 2019

Revenue
Revenue from sale of goods (Note 18) 14,261$             22,338$              
Excise taxes 2,521                  2,019                  

Net revenue 11,740                20,319                

Cost of sales
Cost of goods sold 6,075                  20,446                
Production costs 8,863                  7,202                  
Amortization of Health Canada license (Note 8) 488                     3,680                  
Inventory write-down (Note 5) 8,143                  6,710                  
Realized fair value amounts on inventory sold 4,245                  455                     
Unrealized gain on changes in fair value of biological assets (Note 4) (6,404)                (3,704)                 

Gross margin (9,670)                (14,470)              

Expenses
General and administrative (Note 19) 9,426                  14,259                
Sales and marketing 1,557                  4,367                  
Research and development 1,569                  4,279                  
Depreciation and amortization (Note 6, 8 and 17) 1,757                  1,855                  
Share-based payments (Note 13) 3,017                  11,783                
Impairment of assets (Note 6, 8, 17) 27,557                65,122                

44,883                101,665             

Loss from operations 54,553                116,135              

Share of income from joint venture (Note 20) (3,131)                (19,592)              
Interest and other income (1,279)                (953)                    
Finance costs and other expenses (Note 9, 11, 17) 4,973                  10,418                
Gain on disposal of Joint Venture (Note 20) (13,423)              -                           
Loss on settlement of joint venture supply agreement (Note 20) -                           5,931                  
Loss on disposal of equipment 237                     -                           
Loss on settlement of convertible debt  (Note 11) 823                     -                           
Loss on settlement of deferred payment -                           864                     
Loss on dilution of joint venture ownership (Note 20) 850                     -                           
Loss on sale of long term investment 44                       -                           
Fair value changes in financial assets (Note 15, 22) (304)                    202                     

Loss before income taxes 43,343                113,005              

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) (Note 17) 169                     (1,098)                 

Income tax expense (Note 16) 27                       -                           

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 43,539                111,907              

Net loss and comprehensive loss attributable to:
Emerald Health Therapeutics, Inc. 42,952                111,141              
Non-controlling interest (Note 7(i)) 587                     766                     

43,539                111,907              

Net loss per common share

    Basic and diluted 0.22                    0.75                    

Weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding 

    Basic and diluted 193,205,390      147,961,139      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EMERALD HEALTH THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Amounts reflected in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts)

Total Non-

# of # of Contributed Convertible Accumulated Shareholders' Controlling Total

Shares Amount Warrants Amount Surplus Debt Reserves Deficit Equity Interest Equity

Balance, January 1, 2020 160,986,373      237,151$            26,470,671        2,449$                28,146$             383$                   (164,196)$         103,933$           (766)$                 103,167$           

Shares issued on prospectus offering (Note 12) 21,696,178        4,935                  -                           -                           -                          -                          -                          4,935                 -                          4,935                 

Shares issued on at-the-market offering (Note 12) 2,445,600          500                      -                           -                           -                          -                          -                          500                     -                          500                     

Share issued on settlement of related party transaction (Note 10) 9,713,666          2,914                  -                           -                           (97)                      -                          -                          2,817                 -                          2,817                 

Share issued on settlement of convertible debt interest (Note 11) 4,894,055          1,009                  -                           -                           -                          -                          -                          1,009                 -                          1,009                 

Warrants issued on prospectus offering (Note 12, 14) -                           -                           21,696,178        164                      -                          -                          -                          164                     -                          164                     

Shares issued on restricted share unit vesting 375,000              1,710                  -                           -                           (1,710)                -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Shares issued on warrant exercises (Note 12, 14) 6,250,000          1,958                  (6,250,000)         (895)                    -                          -                          -                          1,063                 -                          1,063                 

Share issuance costs -                           (414)                    -                           -                           -                          -                          -                          (414)                   -                          (414)                   

Share-based payments (Note 13) -                           -                           -                           -                           3,017                 -                          -                          3,017                 -                          3,017                 

Settlement of Convertible Debt (Note 11) -                           -                           -                           -                           (230)                   (383)                   -                          (613)                   -                          (613)                   

Net loss and comprehensive loss -                           -                           -                           -                           -                          -                          (42,952)              (42,952)              (587)                   (43,539)              

Balance, December 31, 2020 206,360,872      249,763$           41,916,849        1,718$                29,126$             -$                   (207,148)$         73,459$             (1,353)$              72,106$             

Balance, January 1, 2019 141,443,116      204,792$            8,411,764          4,360$                14,202$             -$                        (52,856)$            170,498$           -$                        170,498$           

Adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 2) -                           -                           -                           -                           -                          -                          (199)                   (199)                   -                          (199)                   

Balance, January 1, 2019, as restated 141,443,116      204,792              8,411,764          4,360                  14,202               -                          (53,055)              170,298             -                          170,298             

Shares issued on at-the-market offering (Note 12) 5,936,500          18,768                -                           -                           -                          -                          -                          18,768               -                          18,768               

Shares issued on private placement (Note 12) 9,558,907          3,342                  -                           -                           -                          -                          -                          3,342                 -                          3,342                 

Equity component and warrants issued on convertible debentures (Note 11) -                           -                           12,500,000        1,791                  -                          383                     -                          2,174                 -                          2,174                 

Warrants issued on private placement (Note 12, 14) -                           9,558,907          658                      -                          -                          -                          658                     -                          658                     

Acquisition of Verdélite Sciences Inc. (Note 9) 2,129,707          8,199                  -                           -                           -                          -                          -                          8,199                 -                          8,199                 

Shares issued on stock option exercises (Note 12) 1,918,143          3,350                  -                           -                           (2,199)                -                          -                          1,151                 -                          1,151                 

Share issuance costs -                           (1,300)                 -                           -                           -                          -                          -                          (1,300)                -                          (1,300)                

Share-based payments (Note 13) -                           -                           -                           -                           11,783               -                          -                          11,783               -                          11,783               

Warrants expired (Note 14) -                           -                           (4,000,000)         (4,360)                 4,360                 -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Net loss and comprehensive loss -                           -                           -                           -                           -                          -                          (111,141)            (111,141)            (766)                   (111,907)            
Balance, December 31, 2019 160,986,373      237,151$            26,470,671        2,449$                28,146$             383$                   (164,196)$         103,933$           (766)$                 103,167$           

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Share Capital Warrants
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EMERALD HEALTH THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts reflected in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts)

December 31 December 31
2020 2019

Operating activities
Net loss (43,539)$                     (111,907)$                   
Items not involving cash

Depreciation 4,820                           6,429                           
Gain on changes in fair value of biological assets (6,404)                          (3,703)                          
(Gain) loss on changes in fair value of financial assets (304)                             202                               
Inventory write-down 8,143                           6,710                           
Share-based payments 3,017                           11,783                         
Share of income from joint venture (3,131)                          (19,592)                        
Interest and accretion expense 4,321                           1,511                           
Deferred income tax loss (recovery) 169                              (1,099)                          
Impairment of intangible assets 27,557                         65,122                         
Gain on disposal of Joint Venture (13,423)                        -                                    
Loss on dilution of Joint Venture ownership 850                              -                                    
Loss on disposal of assets 237                              -                                    
Loss on settlement of Joint Venture supply agreement -                                    5,931                           
Loss on settlement of deferred payment -                                    864                               
Loss on settlement of convertible debt 823                              -                                    
Loss on sale of long-term investment 44                                 -                                    
Gain on termination of lease (17)                               -                                    

Changes in non-cash operating working capital -                                    -                                    
Accounts receivable 571                              1,655                           
Due from related parties 151                              8,842                           
Prepaid expenses (809)                             1,000                           
Inventory and biological assets 3,599                           (6,967)                          
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,614                           1,383                           
Due to related parties (791)                             7,069                           

Net cash flows used in operating activities (10,502)                        (24,767)                        

Investing activities
Investment in Joint Venture (Note 20) (710)                             (18,640)                        
Acquisition of assets (Note 7) (1,025)                          (1,370)                          
Deposits on material and equipment (93)                               1,409                           
Refundable deposits (17)                               -                                    
Sale of plant and equipment 54                                 -                                    
Sale of Joint Venture Interest (Note 20) 59,415                         -                                    
Sale of long-term investment 206                              -                                    
Purchase of plant and equipment (2,917)                          (24,083)                        
Purchase of intangible assets (522)                             (1,442)                          

Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 54,391                         (44,126)                        

Financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities (792)                             (563)                             
Repayment on long-term debt -                                    (2,503)                          
Repayment of deferred payment -                                    (8,000)                          
Proceeds from prospectus offering 5,100                           22,769                         
Proceeds from at-the-market offering 500                              -                                    
Proceeds from convertible debenture financing -                                    24,217                         
Proceeds from CEBA loan (Note 2(e)) 40                                 -                                    
Share issuance costs (414)                             (1,300)                          
Repayment of convertible debenture financing (Note 11) (25,000)                        -                                    
Warrants exercises 1,063                           -                                    
Stock option exercises -                                    1,151                           
Interest paid (913)                             (395)                             

Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities (20,416)                        35,376                         

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 23,473                         (33,517)                        
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,525                           36,042                         
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 25,998$                       2,525$                         

Supplemental Information:
Fair value of shares issued to settle outstanding loan amount and trade payables (Note 10) 2,914$                               -$                                       

Fair value of shares issued to settle interest on convertible debentures (Note 11) 1,009$                               -$                                       

Fair value of shares issued to settle portion of deferred payment (Note 9) -$                                       8,199,371$                       

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EMERALD HEALTH THERAPEUTICS, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Amounts reflected in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts) 
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1. Nature and Continuance of Operations 

 Emerald Health Therapeutics, Inc. (the "Company"), was incorporated pursuant to the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia) on July 31, 2007. The common shares of the Company are listed on the 
Canadian Stock Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading symbol “EMH.” The Company is also traded on the 
OTCQX, with its common shares listed under the trading symbol “EMHTF.” 

 The Company’s registered and records office is at Suite 2500 – 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, V6C 2X8.  

 The Company’s principal business is the production, distribution, and sale of cannabis products in Canada, 
pursuant to the Cannabis Act (Canada) (the “Cannabis Act”). 

 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management on a going concern basis 
which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business for the foreseeable future. As at December 31, 2020, the Company had not yet achieved 
profitable operations, had a loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 of $43,539 and accumulated losses 
since inception of $207,148. As at December 31, 2020, the Company had $25,998 in cash and cash 
equivalents, and subsequent to December 31, 2020, received $19,900 plus $622 in interest, representing 
the full and final payment due for the Company’s sale of its interest in Pure Sunfarms (Note 20). The 
Company is actively managing current cash flows until such time as the Company is profitable. Management 
is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, such as the need to commence 
profitable operations. 

 These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and 
classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the 
Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

2. Significant Accounting Policies and Judgements 

Significant accounting policies, which affect the consolidated financial statements as a whole, as well as key 
accounting estimates and areas of significant judgement are highlighted in this section. This note also 
describes new accounting standards, which have been adopted during 2020, and new accounting 
pronouncements, which are not yet effective but are expected to impact the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements in the future.  

 International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the carrying values of certain assets and liabilities and the reported amounts 
of income and expenses during the period. Actual results may differ from these judgements, estimates and 
assumptions. Significant estimates are evaluations and assumptions about the future and other sources of 
estimation uncertainty that management has made that could result in a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. Significant estimates used in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the following: valuation of biological assets 
(Note 4) and inventory (Note 5), estimated useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment, 
(Note 6), estimated useful lives and valuation of intangible assets, and impairment of goodwill and 
intangible assets (Note 8), share-based compensation (Note 13), the fair value of financial instruments 
(Note 22), valuation of asset acquisitions (Note 7), valuation of convertible debentures (Note 11), and 
recognition of deferred tax assets (Note 16). 



EMERALD HEALTH THERAPEUTICS, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Amounts reflected in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts) 

 

12 
 

 Significant judgements are those judgements that management has made in the application of accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in these consolidated financial 
statements and include: assessment of goodwill and intangible assets for indicators of impairment (Note 
8), asset acquisitions (Note 7), accounting for leases (Note 17), and going concern (Note 1).  

a) Basis of Presentation and Measurement  

 These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS. Unless otherwise noted, all amounts are presented in Canadian dollars, except share and per 
share data. 

 The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of 
Directors of the Company on May 1, 2021.     

 The Company assesses its accounting estimates and judgements every reporting period. During the 
year ended December 31, 2020, the Company adopted an accounting policy for government grants 
in regard to the Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) and the Canadian Emergency Business 
Account (“CEBA”). 

b) COVID-19 Estimation Uncertainty 

 During the year ended December 31, 2020, the global financial markets have been negatively 
impacted by the novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”), which was declared a pandemic by the World 
Health Organization on March 11, 2020. This has led to significant global economic uncertainty, and 
the current outbreak of COVID-19 could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations 
and the operations of the Company’s suppliers and customers. At this time, the Company has not 
had any stoppages related to the production and sales of its cannabis, however, this could change 
based on future developments. The Company has taken what it believes to be appropriate safety 
precautions at its facilities to safeguard the health of its employees including remote work plans and 
additional protective measures on site, and there have been no outbreaks to date at any of the 
Company's facilities. The extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company’s operations will depend 
on future developments, which continue to be highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with 
confidence. 

 In addition, it is possible that estimates in the Company’s financial statements will change in the near 
term as a result of COVID-19 and the effect of any such changes could be material, which could result 
in, among other things, impairment of long-lived assets including intangibles. The Company is closely 
monitoring the impact of the pandemic on all aspects of its business. 

c) Basis of Consolidation 

 These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Subsidiaries are all 
entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when the Company is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
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 The subsidiaries of the Company at December 31, 2020 include the following: 

  

 During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold its equity interest in its Joint Venture 
Pure Sunfarms. See Note 20 for discussion relating to the sale.  

 On May 2, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Verdélite 
Sciences Inc. and its affiliate Verdélite Property Holdings Inc. (together as “Verdélite,” formerly 
known as Agro-Biotech Sciences Inc. and Agro-Biotech Property Holdings Inc.). The principal business 
of Verdélite Sciences Inc. is the production of cannabis pursuant to the Cannabis Act. The principal 
business of Verdélite Property Holdings Inc. is to hold the land and building, located in Saint-
Eustache, Quebec, occupied by Verdélite Sciences Inc. for cannabis production.  

 Through EHTC’s 100% owned subsidiary, Avalite Sciences Inc. (“Avalite,” formerly known as Northern 
Vine Canada Inc.), a licensed dealer under the provisions of the Canadian Controlled Drugs and 
Substances Act, the Company operates a laboratory facility located in Langley, British Columbia. See 
Note 8. 

 On January 10, 2019, the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) approved the Company’s agreement with 
Emerald Health Bioceuticals, Inc. (“EHB”), an entity with common directors, to form Emerald Health 
Naturals Inc. (“Naturals”). Naturals holds the Canadian distribution rights to EHB’s product line which 
focuses on health and wellness products that tap into the body’s Endocannabinoid System through 
the use of non cannabis based ingredients. See Note 7(i). 

d) Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents are financial assets that are measured at amortized cost, which 
approximate fair value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and redeemable short-term 
investment certificates held at major financial institutions as follows:  
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e) Government Grants 

 Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received, and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense 
item, it is recognized as income over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis 
to the costs that it is intended to compensate. The Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) and 
the Canadian Emergency Business Account (“CEBA”) are recognized as government grants. The 
Company applied for and received the CEWS, which provides a 75% wage subsidy effective March 
15, 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company determined that it had qualified 
for this subsidy and received $845. The Company has recognized the $759 as other income over the 
period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to 
compensate, and $86 in accounts payable due to an overpayment of the subsidy. 

 On May 26, 2020, the Company obtained $40 in revolving credit from the Government of Canada 
under the CEBA COVID-19 Economic Response Plan. The funding is granted in the form of an interest 
free revolving credit line of which up to $40 may be drawn. On January 1, 2021, the $40 balance 
remaining on the revolving credit line will automatically convert to a non-revolving term loan. 
Effective January 1, 2023, any outstanding balance on the term loan shall bear interest at a rate of 
5% per annum. The term loan matures on December 31, 2025. If 75% of the outstanding balance of 
the non-revolving term loan is repaid on or before December 31, 2022, the remaining 25% of the 
balance shall be forgiven. 

f) Provisions 

 The Company recognizes provisions if there is a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and the obligation can be 
reliably estimated. The amount recognized as a provision reflects management’s best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account 
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

g) Loss per share 

 Basic loss per share is computed by dividing total net loss attributable to the Company for the year 
by the weighted average number of common shares of the Company (the “Common Shares”) 
outstanding during the year. The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating diluted 
loss per share. When the Company is in a loss position, all potential share issuances on the exercise 
of options or warrants is anti-dilutive. In the event of a loss position, diluted loss per share is the 
same as basic loss per share. 

h) Foreign currency translation 

 Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded at exchange rates prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the period end exchange rate. Revenues and 
expenses are translated at the exchange rates approximating those in effect on the date of the 
transactions. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation are included in net loss. The functional 
currency of all entities is the Canadian dollar. 
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i) Change in Estimates – Biological Assets 

 During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company revised its estimates used in determining 
the average selling price per gram. One of the inputs used in determining the biological assets fair 
value less cost to sell was applied prospectively. Previously, the Company used the average retail 
price per gram of dried cannabis net of costs to sell for the period for all strains of cannabis sold at 
the finished good stage. The Company has revised its model to use the average wholesale market 
price per gram of dried bulk cannabis, based on quality (Tetrahydrocannabinol % and terpene 
profile). See Note 4. The Company believes that the revision of estimates provides more accurate 
and relevant financial information to the users of the consolidated financial statements. 

j) New accounting pronouncements 

The following IFRS standards have been recently issued by the IASB. Pronouncements that are 
irrelevant or not expected to have a significant impact have been excluded. 

(i) Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 

 The amendments relate to: i) changes to contractual cash flows—an entity will not have to 
derecognize or adjust the carrying amount of financial instruments for changes required by the 
reform, but will instead update the effective interest rate to reflect the change to the alternative 
benchmark rate; ii) hedge accounting—an entity will not have to discontinue its hedge accounting 
solely because it makes changes required by the reform, if the hedge meets other hedge accounting 
criteria; and iii) disclosures—an entity will be required to disclose information about new risks arising 
from the reform and how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark rates. The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with earlier application 
permitted.  The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of these amendments on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

(ii) Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
 
 The amendment clarifies the requirements relating to determining if a liability should be presented 

as current or non-current in the statement of financial position. Under the new requirement, the 
assessment of whether a liability is presented as current or non-current is based on the contractual 
arrangements in place as at the reporting date and does not impact the amount or timing of 
recognition. The amendment applies retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of these 
amendments on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

 
3. Accounts Receivable 

Accounting Policy: 

Accounts receivable are financial assets recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost, less any provisions for impairment. Financial assets measured at amortized cost are 
assessed for impairment at the end of each reporting period. Impairment provisions are estimated using 
the expected credit loss impairment model where any expected future credit losses are provided for, 
irrespective of whether a loss event has occurred at the reporting date. 
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Estimates of expected credit losses take into account the Company’s collection history, deterioration of 
collection rates during the average credit period, as well as observable changes in and forecasts of future 
economic conditions that affect default risk. Where applicable, the carrying amount of a trade receivable is 
reduced for any expected credit losses through the use of an allowance for doubtful accounts (“AFDA”) 
provision. Changes in the AFDA provision are recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
When the Company determines that no recovery of the amount owing is possible, the amount is deemed 
irrecoverable, and the financial asset is written off. 
 
The Company’s accounts receivables are comprised of: 
 

  

 Accounts receivable are neither impaired nor past due. 

4. Biological Assets 

Accounting Policy: 

 The Company defines biological assets as cannabis plants up to the point of harvest which becomes the 
basis for the cost of inventories. Biological assets are measured at fair value less cost to sell at the end of 
each reporting period in accordance with IAS 41 – Agriculture, using the income approach. Gains or losses 
from changes in fair value less costs to sell are included in cost of sales in the period incurred. The income 
approach calculates the present value of expected future cash flows from the Company’s biological assets 
using the following key Level 3 assumptions and inputs: 

  



EMERALD HEALTH THERAPEUTICS, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Amounts reflected in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts) 

 

17 
 

 

The following table highlights the sensitivities and impact of changes in significant assumptions on the fair 
value of biological assets. As noted above in Note 2(i), the Company previously used the average retail price 
per gram of dried cannabis net of costs to sell for the period for all strains of cannabis sold at the finished 
good stage. The Company has revised its model to use the average wholesale market price per gram of 
dried bulk cannabis, based on quality (Tetrahydrocannabinol % and terpene profile). The effect of the 
change in estimate for the year ended December 31, 2020 was a reduction of the biological asset value of 
$1,459. 

 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s biological assets produced 8,960 kilograms of 
dried cannabis flower (December 31, 2019 – 1,091 kilograms). As of December 31, 2020, it is expected that 
the Company’s biological assets will yield approximately 1,439 kilograms of dried cannabis flower when 
harvested. As of December 31, 2020, the weighted average stage of growth for the biological assets was 
52% (December 31, 2019 – 45%). The average number of days from the point of propagation to harvest was 
108 days (December 31, 2019 – 109 days). 

The Company’s estimates are, by their nature, subject to change and changes in the significant assumptions 
will be reflected in the gain or loss on biological assets in future periods. 

The Company’s biological assets consist of cannabis seeds and cannabis plants. Changes in the Company’s 
biological assets are as follows: 
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 As at December 31, 2020, included in the carrying amount of biological assets is $84 (December 31, 2019 - 
$85) in seeds and $885 (December 31, 2019 - $4,074) in live plants. 

5. Inventory 

Accounting Policy: 

Inventories of dried cannabis consist of harvested cannabis and purchased cannabis and are valued at the 
lower of cost and net realizable value. Inventories of harvested cannabis are transferred from biological 
assets at their fair value at harvest, which becomes deemed cost. Any subsequent post-harvest costs are 
capitalized to inventory to the extent that cost is less than net realizable value (“NRV”). NRV is determined 
as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is determined using the average cost basis. Cannabis 
oils are derived from dried cannabis and are measured at the lower of cost and NRV. Supplies and 
consumables are valued at cost. 

Post harvest production costs include all direct and indirect production related costs, including security, 
compliance, quality control and quality assurance costs, as well as related overhead.  

Inventories are written down when the cost of inventories exceed their net realizable value and are 
estimated to be unrecoverable due to obsolescence, damage, or declining market prices. 

The Company’s inventory is comprised of: 

 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, inventory expensed to cost of goods sold was $10,320 
(December 31, 2019 – $20,901). The fair value change in biological assets that was included in cost of goods 
sold during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $4,245 (December 31, 2019 - $455). 
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During the year ended December 31, 2020, a write-down of $7,619 was recognized for dried bulk cannabis 
and packaged inventory (December 31, 2019 - $4,662) related to product deterioration and limited 
remaining shelf life. A write-down of $407 was recognized for bulk cannabis oils related to a decrease in 
NRV of the product, and $117 related to Naturals products. During the year ended December 31, 2019, an 
additional write-off of inventory of $2,048 was recognized related to hemp harvested that did not meet the 
quality standards for extraction grade material (Note 10).  

6. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Accounting Policy: 

Property plant and equipment is measured at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the asset acquisition. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor, other costs directly attributable to make the 
asset available for its intended use. During their construction, property, plant and equipment are classified 
as plant under construction (“PUC”) and are not subject to depreciation. When the asset is available for use, 
it is transferred from PUC to the relevant category of property, plant and equipment and depreciation 
commences. 

Where particular parts of an asset are significant, discrete and have distinct useful lives, the Company 
allocates the associated costs between the various components, which are then separately depreciated 
over the estimated useful lives of each respective component. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the following estimated useful lives: 

• Computers - 3 years  

• Production, lab and growing equipment - 5 - 10 years 

• Other equipment - 5 -10 years 

• Buildings 15 - 25 years 

• Leasehold improvements – lesser of useful life or term of lease 
 
Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed annually and changes are accounted 
for prospectively. 

Gains and losses on asset disposals are determined by deducting the carrying value from the sale proceeds 
and are recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

The Company assesses impairment of property, plant and equipment when an impairment indicator arises 
(e.g. change in use or discontinued use, obsolescence or physical damage). When the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets, the asset 
is tested at the cash generating unit (“CGU”) level. In assessing impairment, the Company compares the 
carrying amount of the asset or CGU to the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of the 
asset or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) and its value-in-use (“VIU”). VIU is assessed based 
on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects applicable market and economic conditions, the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s 
length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. An impairment loss is recognized whenever 
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the carrying amount of the asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount and is recorded in the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 The Company’s property, plant and equipment continuity is as follows:  

 

Depreciation relating to manufacturing equipment and production facilities is capitalized into biological 
assets and inventory and is expensed to cost of sales upon the sale of goods. For the year ended December 
31, 2020, $2,499 (December 31, 2019 - $822) of depreciation was recognized in cost of sales.   

Plant under construction 

During 2019, Phase 1 of construction on the Company’s new self-constructed production facility located in 
Metro Vancouver, British Columbia was completed. $14,343 was transferred from plant under construction 
to property, plant and equipment and began to be amortized during the year ended December 31, 2019, 
no amounts were transferred during the year ended December 31, 2020. As at December 31, 2020, $8,933 
of expenditures had been capitalized to PUC relating to Phase 2 of the facility (December 31, 2019 - $8,407). 
As described below, $3,522 of the capitalized PUC was impaired at December 31, 2020, leaving a remaining 
balance of $5,411. 
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Impairments 

The Company reviews the carrying value of its property and equipment at each reporting period for 
indicators of impairment. During the year ended December 31, 2020, management noted indicators of 
impairment at the asset specific level which are discussed below. 

Asset specific impairments 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company initiated a plan to close operations at the facility 
located in Metro Vancouver, British Columbia, as announced subsequent to the year ended, which is an 
indicator of impairment. The fair value of this facility was determined based on a third-party appraisal using 
a FVLCD approach including the market and cost approaches. Consideration was given to information from 
manufacturers, historical data and industry standards which constitute both observable and unobservable 
inputs (level 2 and level 3). As a result, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $8,105, split between 
the building asset, PUC and the ROU Land asset (Note 17), which were impaired by $1,373, $3,522 and 
$3,210 respectively for the year ended December 31, 2020. These assets and the corresponding impairment 
loss is allocated to the cannabis operating segment (Note 21). 

CGU Impairments 

As stated below in Note 8, the Verdélite assets were impaired as at June 30, 2020, with $2,354 of 
impairment being allocated to the building (production facility). 

Deposits 

 During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company prepaid for intangible assets, grow equipment, 
extraction equipment, packaging equipment and construction that totalled $214 (December 31, 2019 - 
$886).  

7. Acquisitions 

Accounting Policy: 

A business combination is a transaction or event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more 
businesses and is accounted for using the acquisition method. The total consideration paid for the 
acquisition is the aggregate of the fair values of assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and equity instruments 
issued in exchange for control of the acquiree at the acquisition date. The acquisition date is the date when 
the Company obtains control of the acquiree. The identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities assumed are 
recognized at their acquisition date fair values, except for deferred taxes and share-based payment awards 
where IFRS provides exceptions to recording the amounts at fair value. Goodwill represents the difference 
between total consideration paid and the fair value of the net-identifiable assets acquired. Acquisition costs 
incurred are expensed to profit or loss. 

Based on the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date, management will perform a 
valuation analysis to allocate the purchase price based on the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date. Management has one year from the acquisition date to 
confirm and finalize the facts and circumstances that support the finalized fair value analysis and related 
purchase price allocation. Until such time, these values are provisionally reported and are subject to change. 
Changes to fair values and allocations are retrospectively adjusted in subsequent periods. 
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In determining the fair value of all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the most significant 
estimates generally relate to contingent consideration and intangible assets. Management exercises 
judgment in estimating the probability and timing of when earn-outs are expected to be achieved, which is 
used as the basis for estimating fair value. Identified intangible assets are fair valued using appropriate 
valuation techniques which are generally based on a forecast of the total expected future net cash flows of 
the acquiree. Valuations are highly dependent on the inputs used and assumptions made by management 
regarding the future performance of these assets and any changes in the discount rate applied. 

Acquisitions that do not meet the definition of a business combination are accounted for as asset 
acquisitions. Consideration paid for an asset acquisition is allocated to the individual identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative fair values. Asset acquisitions do not give rise to 
goodwill. 

Non-controlling interests are measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the recognized amounts of the acquirers’ identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. The 
choice of measurement is made on a transaction by transaction basis.  

In a business combination achieved in stages, the Company remeasures any previously held equity interest 
at its acquisition date fair value and recognizes any gain or loss in the consolidated statements of loss. 

a) Acquisitions completed during the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

(i) Emerald Health Naturals 

On January 10, 2019, the TSXV approved the Company’s agreement with Emerald Health Bioceuticals, Inc. 
(“EHB”), an entity with common directors, to form Naturals. Naturals holds the Canadian distribution rights 
to EHB’s product line which focuses on health and wellness products that tap into the bodies 
Endocannabinoid System using non-cannabis-based ingredients. The Company controls Naturals and it has 
been consolidated, with a non-controlling interest recognized for the EHB owned portion. 

The Company concluded that the transaction with EHB was a common control transaction and as such the 
net assets transferred to Naturals are transferred at their carrying value, with no gains or losses resulting 
from the transaction. As a result of this being a common control transaction, the Distribution Right is 
recorded at its acquisition date carrying value of $nil.  

 Concurrent with this agreement, Naturals entered into an agreement to acquire assets from GAB 
Innovations, Inc. (“GAB”) for cash consideration of $340. The Company paid $200 on closing and the 
remaining amount is included in Due to Related Parties on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
On the date of acquisition, management concluded that the assets acquired did not include significant 
processes or outputs, and therefore did not meet the definition of a business under IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations. As a result, the transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition. 
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 The total purchase price and the fair value of the net assets of GAB acquired are disclosed below: 

  

As part of the asset acquisition, Naturals acquired a Health Canada Natural Health Product (“NHP”) Site 
Licence. An NHP Site Licence is required for any site that manufactures, processes, packages, labels, imports, 
and/or stores NHPs in Canada. The acquired NHP Site Licence allowed Naturals to start importing and 
storing NHPs in Q2 2019. This intangible asset was recorded at its relative fair value at the date of purchase. 
This asset has a finite life and was amortized on a straight-line basis.  

At December 31, 2020, the Company had an outstanding amount owing to Naturals in the amount of $200, 
relating to purchased inventory. This amount in included in Due To Related Parties on the consolidated 
statements of financial position. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company reduced the activity at Naturals to care and 
maintenance. The Company tested the CGU for impairment (Note 8).  
 

8. Intangible Assets and Goodwill 

Accounting Policy: 

Intangible assets 

 Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and any impairment losses. Intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Amortization 
of definite life intangibles is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which do 
not exceed the contractual period, if any, over the following terms: 

•  Computer software – 2 to 3 years straight line 

• Health Canada licences – Useful life of the facility or contractual lease term 

• Patents – straight line over the life of the patent 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and amortization methods are reviewed annually and any 
changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively. Intangible assets with an indefinite life or not yet 
available for use are not subject to amortization. Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development 
expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Company intends to 
and has sufficient resources to complete development to use or sell the asset. Other development 
expenditures are recognized as research and development expenses on the consolidated statement of loss 
and comprehensive loss as incurred.  
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Goodwill 

 Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of an entity over the fair value 
of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs which 
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Goodwill is not subject to amortization. 

 Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill 

 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and whenever events or circumstances indicate that there 
might be an impairment. Finite life intangible assets are assessed at the end of each reporting period for 
whether there is any indication of impairment. They are tested whenever there is an indication of 
impairment. 

 If indicators of impairment exist, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in 
an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable 
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period. For 
an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses recognized in respect of a CGU 
are first allocated to the carrying value of goodwill and any excess is allocated to the carrying value of assets 
in the CGU.  

 Management considers both external and internal sources of information in determining if there are any 
indications that the Company’s intangible assets and goodwill are impaired. Management considers the 
market, economic, and legal environment in which the Company operates that are not within its control 
and affects the recoverable amount of its assets. Management considers the manner in which the assets 
are being used or are expected to be used, and indication of economic performance of the assets. Where 
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the lesser of the 
revised estimate of recoverable amount, and the carrying amount that would have been recorded had no 
impairment loss been recognized previously. 
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 The Company’s intangible assets continuity is as follows:  

   

Impairments 

 The Company reviews the carrying value of its intangibles at each reporting period for indicators of 
impairment. During the year ended December 31, 2020, management noted indicators of impairment at 
the asset specific level and at the CGU level which are discussed below. 

 Asset Specific Impairments 

Avalite  
In December 2020, the Company terminated the letter of intent and abandoned the potential transaction 
with Sigma Analytical Services that had been entered into on March 9, 2020, and initiated a plan to cease 
active operations at the facility. This adversely impacts the intended use of the related operating licenses. 
The recoverable amount of the licenses were estimated using a FVLCD approach which resulted in a value 
of $130, resulting in an impairment of $2,017 that was recorded against the licenses held by the subsidiary. 
Goodwill of $169 related to the acquisition of Avalite was also impaired during the year ended December 
31, 2020. The licenses, goodwill, and the corresponding impairment loss, is allocated to the cannabis 
operating segment (Note 21). The recoverable amount of the licenses was determined based on fair value 
less cost to dispose using a market approach (Level 3 inputs). 
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CGU Impairments 
 

 Verdélite 
 As at June 30, 2020, management performed an indicator-based test as there were events or changes in 

circumstances that indicated that the Verdélite CGU was impaired. The following factors were identified as 
impairment indicators: 

  
 i. Revenue decline: Constraints in the provincial retail distribution network, including a slower than 

expected roll-out of retail stores across Canada, as well as a slower than anticipated launch of new 
products, has resulted in a decrease in expected sales and profitability as compared to outcomes initially 
forecasted by management; 

 ii. Decline in stock price and market capitalization: As at June 30, 2020, the carrying amount of the 
Company’s total net assets exceeded the Company’s market capitalization; 

 iii. The Company’s intention to sell the asset at June 30, 2020. 

On July 31, 2020, the Company announced that it had entered into a share purchase agreement relating to 
the sale of the Verdélite assets. The Company’s intention to sell the asset at June 30, 2020, as well as the 
continued decline in stock price and market capitalization of the Company were indicators of impairment 
at June 30, 2020. As a result of these factors, management evaluated its cash generating units (“CGU”) for 
impairment. It was determined that the Verdélite CGU was impaired at June 30, 2020. Taking into account 
the Company’s intention to sell the CGU, the fair value less costs of disposal of Verdélite approximated its 
value in use at June 30, 2020, given that the value in use consists mainly of the net disposal proceeds. 
Management concluded that the carrying value was higher than the recoverable amount, the estimated 
FVLCD of $20,580, and recorded an impairment loss of $17,063. The FVLCD was determined using the sale 
purchase agreement and related estimated costs of disposal which constitute observable inputs (level 2 
inputs).  Management allocated the impairment loss based on the relative carrying amounts of the CGU’s 
assets at the impairment date which resulted in an impairment of $14,709 being allocated to the intangible 
assets and $2,354 being allocated to the building (production facility) of the Verdélite CGU (Note 6). The 
Verdélite assets, and the corresponding impairment loss, is allocated to the cannabis operating segment 
(Note 21). 
 
On December 4, 2020, the Company terminated the sale agreement for the Verdélite assets. As a result of 
this, Management re-assessed the impairment loss recognized at June 30, 2020 to determine whether there 
was any indication that the previously recognized impairment loss may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Management determined that there was no change in 
the recoverable amount of the CGU, no reversal has been made. 

 Naturals 
 As noted above in Note 7, during the period ended December 31, 2020, the Company decreased the activity 

at Naturals. As a result of this, management evaluated the Naturals CGU and determined that certain assets 
of the CGU were impaired, resulting in an impairment of $202. $112 was recorded against certain licenses 
held by the subsidiary and $90 against patents. The licenses and patents were deemed to have no 
recoverable value and were therefore fully impaired. The licenses, patents, and the corresponding 
impairment loss, is allocated to the “Other” operating segment (Note 21). 
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9. Deferred Payment of Verdélite Purchase 

Accounting Policy: 

 Deferred payments are classified as other financial liabilities and are measured at fair value at initial 
recognition and subsequently at amortized cost. 

 The deferred payment is the remaining amount owed to the vendors of Verdélite (the “Vendors”) as a result 
of the business combination that occurred on May 2, 2018. The remaining $22,300 was originally payable 
in cash to the Vendors on May 1, 2019. 

 On May 1, 2019, the Vendors elected to receive $7,500 of the remaining $22,300, as shares of the Company, 
with the remaining $14,800 of the Purchase Price to be paid on or before May 30, 2019. The Company 
treated this change to the terms of settlement for the purchase of Verdélite as an extinguishment of the 
original terms, and not a modification under IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. The shares issued to the Vendors 
were valued on the five-day volume-weighted average price of the Common Shares of the Company on the 
TSXV, discounted 10%, calculated as of April 30, 2019. This resulted in the issuance of 2,129,707 Common 
Shares to the Vendors, at a deemed share price of $3.52 per Common Share. Under IFRIC 19, Extinguishing 
Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments, when equity instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish all 
or part of a financial liability are recognized initially, an entity shall measure them at the fair value of the 
equity instruments issued. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss. The fair value of the equity issued to the Vendors on May 1, 2019 was $3.85 per 
share, resulting in a loss of $864 being recognized by the Company in the consolidated statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss.  

 An additional loss was recognized on the renegotiation of terms of settlement, as the Company initially 
recorded the liability at $22,300, adjusted from the $22,500 based on working capital adjustments. The 
difference of $165 has been recognized as a loss by the Company and is included in the loss on settlement 
of deferred payment of $864 in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.  

 On May 30, 2019, the Company renegotiated the terms of the remaining $15,000 payable to the Vendors. 
$5,000 cash was paid in June 2019, with subsequent monthly payments of $1,000 commencing mid July 
through to mid November 2019, with a final payment of $5,000 plus accrued interest due on December 16, 
2019. Interest on the full $15,000 balance began accruing May 31, 2019 at a rate of 10% per annum and 
accrues until such time as the entire balance is repaid. The amount outstanding as at December 31, 2020 
was $9,375. The Company settled this balance with the Vendors subsequent to December 31, 2020 (Note 
24). 

10. Related Party Transactions 

Accounting Policy: 

The Company considers a person or entity as a related party if they are a member of key management 
personnel including their close relatives, an associate or joint venture, those having significant influence 
over the Company, as well as entities that are under common control or controlled by related parties. 
Transactions are recorded at amounts agreed upon by the related parties. 
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 With Emerald Health Sciences Inc. 

 As of the year ended December 31, 2020, Emerald Health Sciences Inc. (“Sciences”) held an aggregate of 
39,401,608 Common Shares, representing 19% (December 31, 2019 – 29,687,942 shares, representing 18%) 
of the issued and outstanding Common Shares and it also held 9,099,706 (December 31, 2019 – 9,099,706) 
common share purchase warrants of the Company. 

 Sciences charged the Company $17 during the year ended December 31, 2020 for invoices paid on behalf 
of the Company (December 31, 2019 - $37). In the year ended December 31, 2019, Sciences charged the 
Company $2,023 for hemp harvested and the expenditures supporting the harvest through the supply 
agreement with Emerald Health Hemp Inc. (“EHH”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sciences (Note 5). That 
was included in the due to related parties caption on the consolidated statements of financial position as 
at December 31, 2019. As at December 31, 2020, the Company owed $1,327 (December 31, 2019 - $1,846) 
to Sciences for total services provided. These amounts are included in the due to related parties caption on 
the consolidated statements of financial position and bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum. As at 
December 31, 2020, Sciences owed the Company $50 (December 31, 2019 – $31) for invoices paid on behalf 
of Sciences, this amount is included in the due from related parties caption on the consolidated statements 
of financial position and is non-interest bearing. 

 In July 2019, the Company amended a previous loan agreement with Sciences pursuant to which Sciences 
agreed to loan up to $15,000 to the Company, in amounts and at times agreed to by the parties. Amounts 

 loaned bear interest at 12% per annum and are repayable on demand. On January 31, 2020, the Company 
 settled its outstanding balance related to the loan agreement and accrued loan interest totalling $794 as 

well as its outstanding balance related to trade payables for hemp purchased totalling $2,023, by way of 
issuance of shares for debt. The Company issued 9,713,666 common shares of the Company at a deemed 
price of $0.29 per Common Share. 

  
 On July 15, 2020, the Company announced that it had terminated certain related party agreements 

pertaining to consulting services and a loan facility. Sciences and the Company entered into an independent 
 contractor agreement on May 1, 2015, as amended from time to time (the “Consulting Agreement”), and a 
 loan agreement on August 25, 2015, as amended from time to time (the “Loan Agreement”). Sciences and 
 the Company agreed to terminate the Consulting Agreement and Loan Agreement. 
  
 On May 27, 2020, the Company announced that it had terminated certain related party agreements 

pertaining to its cannabis cultivation operation in Metro Vancouver. Previously existing rights and 
continuing usage of the land and its cultivation operation in Metro Vancouver are unaffected by these 
terminations. Both the sublease agreement and cultivation agreement with Sciences were previously 
announced on October 4, 2019. The Company and Sciences agreed not to pursue the transactions 
contemplated by such agreements and agreed to terminate both the sublease agreement and the 
cultivation agreement in May 2020. The Company did not make any payments to, or receive any payments 
from, Sciences under either the sublease agreement or the cultivation agreement. The Company’s 
previously existing rights related to the 12-acre parcel that was subject to the sublease agreement and the 
cultivation agreement are unaffected by these terminations. 

  
 With the Company’s former joint venture 

 As of December 31, 2020, Pure Sunfarms owes the Company $170 (December 31, 2019 - $170) for 
expenditures made on behalf of the joint venture. As at December 31, 2020 the Company owes to Pure 
Sunfarms $5 (December 31, 2019 - $957). $952 of the 2019 balance was for remittance on bulk sales that 
the Company made under the Supply Agreement. These amounts were re-classed from the respective Due 
To and Due From Related Parties, to the respective accounts receivable and accounts payable on the 
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consolidated statements of financial position at the date of sale (Note 20). Amounts are non-interest 
bearing. See Note 20 for further discussion about balances and transactions between the Company and 
Pure Sunfarms that were resolved under the Settlement Agreement. 

 With a Company Controlled by the Company’s Executive Chairman 

 During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company entered into a 30-year lease with a company (the 
“Landlord”) that is controlled by Avtar Dhillon, MD, the Executive Chairman of the Company with respect 
to land in Metro Vancouver, British Columbia on which the Company is constructing its new production 
facility. The lease amount was determined by an independent valuation, and was approved by the 
nonconflicted directors of the Company. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company paid to 
the Landlord $365 (December 31, 2019 - $341) in rent. The Landlord was reimbursed by the Company for 
$Nil during the year ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $189) for development fees and 
services related to construction of the Company’s new facility. As at December 31, 2020, the Company 
recognized lease liabilities of $3,516 (December 31, 2019 - $3,554) relating to the land in Metro Vancouver 
with a corresponding right of use asset. 

  

 With a Company Whose CEO is Also a Director of the Company 

 The Company holds 1,666,667 common share purchase warrants of Avricore Health Inc. (“Avricore”, 
formerly VANC Pharmaceuticals Inc.). During the three months ended December 31, 2020, the Director of 
the Company resigned as CEO of Avricore. 

 With a Company Whose President is Also a CEO of the Subsidiary 

 Naturals owes to GAB $36 (December 31, 2019 - $93) for expenditures made on behalf of Naturals. During 
the three months ended December 31, 2020, the CEO of the subsidiary was terminated as part of the 
decrease in activity at Naturals. 

 Remuneration of directors and key management of the Company 

 The remuneration awarded to directors and to senior key management including the Executive Chairman 
and President, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Commercial Officer and the 
Chief Operating Officer, includes the following expenses recognized during the period: 

  

 Included in Due to Related Parties on the consolidated statements of financial position at December 31, 
2020 is $52 (December 31, 2019 - $50) due to related parties with respect to key management personnel 
and expense reimbursements and are non-interest bearing. 

 These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange value, being  
the amounts agreed upon between the parties. 
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11. Convertible Debenture 

Accounting Policy: 

 Convertible debentures are compound financial instruments which are accounted for separately dependent 
on the nature of their components: a financial liability and an equity instrument. The identification of such 
components embedded within a convertible debenture requires significant judgment given that it is based 
on the interpretation of the substance of the contractual arrangement. Where the conversion option has a 
fixed conversion rate, the financial liability, which represents the obligation to pay coupon interest on the 
convertible debentures in the future, is initially measured at its fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost. The residual amount is accounted for as an equity instrument at issuance. Where the 
conversion option has a variable conversion rate, the conversion option is recognized as a derivative liability 
measured at fair value through profit and loss.  

 In calculating the fair value allocation between the liability component and equity component of the 
Company’s secured convertible debentures, the Company was required to make estimates and use 
judgement in determining an appropriate discount rate on the debenture to arrive at fair value. The 
determination of the fair value of the liability is also based on a number of assumptions, including 
contractual future cash flows, discount rates and the presence of any derivative financial instruments. 

 Transaction costs are apportioned to the debt liability and equity components in proportion to the 
allocation of proceeds. 

  

 On September 10, 2019, the Company issued 2,500 secured convertible debenture units (the “Convertible 
Debenture Units”) of the Company at a price of $10 per Convertible Debenture Unit (the “Issue Price”) for 
gross proceeds of $25,000 (the “Offering”) to a single Canadian institutional accredited investor (the 
“Investor”).The Convertible Debenture Units were secured, bore interest of 5.0% per annum, accrued and 
payable semi-annually with a maturity date of 24 months from the issuance date (the “Maturity Date”). 
Each Unit had attached 5,000 common share purchase warrants of the Company. 

 The Convertible Debentures had a conversion price of $2.00 per Common Share (the "Conversion Price"), 
subject to a forced conversion if the volume weighted average trading price (“VWAP”) of the Company’s 
common shares was greater than $3.50 for 10 consecutive trading days. 
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 The 12,500,000 warrants were initially issued at an exercise price of $2.00 per common share of the 
Company for a period of 24 months from the date of issue. On April 9, 2020, The Company amended the 
exercise price of the September Warrants such that: 6,250,000 September Warrants had an exercise price 
of $0.17 per Common Share (the "$0.17 Warrants"), subject to a forced conversion if the VWAP was greater 
than $0.2125 for 10 consecutive trading days; and 6,250,000 Warrants were adjusted to have an exercise 
price of $0.21 per Common Share (the "$0.21 Warrants"), subject to a forced conversion if the VWAP was 
greater than $0.2625 for 10 consecutive trading days. The holders of the $0.17 warrants immediately 
exercised all such warrants for proceeds of $1,063 to the Company (Note 14). 

 At issuance, the fair value of the liability component of the Convertible Debentures was estimated to be 
$21,925. They were valued using an interest rate for a similar debt for which no conversion features existed, 
which was estimated to be 12%. The debt component is to be accreted to face value over the term to 
maturity as a non-cash interest charge. The Debenture Warrants were valued at $2,427 using the Black-
Scholes valuation model. The residual value was allocated to the equity component of the conversion 
feature and had a value of $648.  

 The fair value of the warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the 
following assumptions: expected life of 2 years, risk free interest rate of 1.60%, expected annualized 
volatility of 94.06% and Nil expected dividend yield. The fair value was determined to be $0.89. The share 
price used for fair value as at issuance date was $1.85. 

 Issuance costs of $783 were allocated proportionately with $687 as a debit against the liability component 
and $96 as a debit against the equity component of the conversion feature. These issuance costs created a 
temporary difference between the carrying value of the liability component and the tax base of the liability 
for tax purposes. The deferred tax impact of the allocation of a portion of the Convertible Debenture to 
equity resulted in a deferred tax recovery during the year ended December 31, 2019 of $805 and a 
corresponding deferred tax expense in equity of $636 and $169 for the Debenture Warrants and the equity 
component of the Convertible Debenture, respectively. The effect of deferred tax is recognised in equity 
because IAS 12 – Income Taxes, requires that the recognition of deferred tax must follow the underlying 
transaction it relates to, and the temporary difference relates to the amount attributed to the equity 
conversion option and Debenture Warrants. 

 During the year ended December 31, 2020, interest expense of $1,110 (December 31, 2019 - $384) and 
accretion expense of $1,654 (December 31, 2019 - $584) was recorded. During the year ended December 
31, 2020, $384 of interest that had accrued during the year ended December 31, 2019, was settled with the 
issuance of 1,322,627 common shares of the Company. Also, interest expense of $625 which had accrued 
to June 30, 2020, was settled with the issuance of 3,571,428 common shares of the Company.  

 On November 24, 2020, the Company fully repaid all amounts owing under the Convertible Debenture 
Units, and as a result, terminated the Convertible Debenture Units and the Company’s obligations 
thereunder. The Convertible Debenture Units were due to mature on September 9, 2021, with no right for 
the Company to prepay amounts owing. However, the Investor consented to the early repayment of all 
amounts owing under the Convertible Debenture Units in exchange for a consent fee of $82. A total of 
$25,568 in cash was paid by the Company to the Investor, representing $25,000 in principal repayment and 
$486 in accrued interest and the consent fee. A loss on early settlement was recorded in the amount of 
$741, calculated as the difference between the carrying value of the debenture and the fair value at the 
date of settlement. 

  



EMERALD HEALTH THERAPEUTICS, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Amounts reflected in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts) 

 

32 
 

12. Share Capital 

 Authorized 

• Unlimited number of Common Shares without par value 

• Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value, issuable in series 

 Issued 

• 206,360,872 Common Shares (December 31, 2019 – 160,986,373) 

• Nil preferred shares (December 31, 2019 – Nil) 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the outstanding share capital increased by 45,374,499 

Common Shares due to the following transactions: 

• The Company filed a prospectus supplement in connection with an at-the-market equity program 
(“ATM Program”) that it established with GMP Securities L.P. (the “Agent”) in the three months 
ended March 31, 2019. During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company did not issue any 
Common Shares in connections with the ATM Program. This ATM Program was cancelled in August 
2020 with the establishment of a new ATM Program; 

• On August 13, 2020, the Company announced that it had established an at-the-market equity 
program (“new ATM Program”) that allows the Company to issue common shares from treasury 
having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $3,250 to the public from time to time at the 
Company’s discretion, at the prevailing market price when issued. The new ATM Program is effective 
until the earlier of April 13, 2021 and completion of the sale of the maximum amount of shares 
thereunder and will be activated from time to time at the Company’s discretion if and when required 
based on the Company’s working capital requirements and capital expenditures and relative cost of 
other funding options. During the year, 2,445,600 common shares were issued under the new ATM 
Program for gross proceeds of $500; 

• Issued 9,713,666 Common Shares with a value of $2,914 to settle an outstanding loan amount and 
trade payables with Sciences (see Note 10); 

• Issued 4,894,055 Common Shares with a value of $1,009 to settle outstanding interest on the 
convertible debentures (see Note 11); 

• During February 2020, the Company closed a private placement resulting in the issuance of 
10,344,827 units at a price of $0.29 per unit, for gross proceeds of $3,000. Each unit consisted of one 
Common Share and one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to 
acquire one common share of the Company at a price of $0.385 per share for a period of five years. 
The warrants were valued using the residual value method at $164 (Note 14); 

• During the year ended December 31, 2020, 375,000 restricted stock units vested (175,000 in April 
and 200,000 in December) triggering the issuance of 375,000 Common Shares, for no cash proceeds; 

• As noted in Note 12, on April 9, 2020, the 6,250,000 September Warrants were amended to an 
exercise price of $0.17 per Common Share and immediately exercised by the holders resulting in 
proceeds of $1,063 to the Company (Note 14); and 

• During June 2020, the Company closed a private placement resulting in the issuance of 11,351,351 
units at a price of $0.185 per unit, for gross proceeds of $2,100. Each unit consisted of one Common 
Share and one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire one 
common share of the Company at a price of $0.27 per share for a period of three years. In the event 
that the closing sale price of the common shares on the TSXV, or such other principal exchange on 
which the common shares are trading, is greater than $0,40 per common share for a period of 10 
consecutive trading days at any time after the closing of the placement, the Company may accelerate 
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the expiry date of the warrants. The warrants were valued using the residual value method at $Nil 
(Note 14). 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the outstanding share capital increased by 19,543,257 

Common Shares due to the following transactions: 

• The Company filed a prospectus supplement in connection with an at-the-market equity program 
(“ATM Program”) that it established with GMP Securities L.P. (the “Agent”) during Q1 2019. In 
connection with the ATM Program, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with 
the Agent. The ATM Program allows the Company to issue Common Shares from treasury having an 
aggregate gross sales price of up to $39 million to the public from time to time, at the Company’s 
discretion, at the prevailing market price when issued on the TSXV or on any other marketplace for 
the common shares in Canada. The ATM Program is effective until the earlier of April 13, 2021 or 
completion of the sale of the maximum amount of shares thereunder. Sales of Common Shares will 
be made through “at-the-market distributions” as defined in National Instrument 44-102 – Shelf 
Distributions on the TSXV or on any other existing marketplace for the common shares in Canada. 
The Common Shares will be distributed at the prevailing market prices at the time of the sale and, 
as a result, prices may vary among purchasers and during the period of distribution. During the year 
ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 5,936,500 Common Shares for gross 
proceeds of $18,768 with an average price of $3.16; 

• Issued 2,129,707 shares with a value of $8,199 as part of the consideration for the acquisition of 
Verdélite; 

• A total of 1,563,143 stock options were exercised ranging in exercise price from $0.175 to $3.07 for 
gross proceeds of $1,151; 

• A total of 355,000 restricted share units vested and were settled. A total of 1,918,143 Common 
Shares were issued; 

• In November 2019, the Company closed a private placement resulting in the issuance of 4,385,965 
units at a price of $0.57 per unit, for gross proceeds of $2,500. Each unit consisted of one common 
share and one common share purchase warrants. See Note 14 for details of the warrants; and 

• In December 2019, the Company closed a private placement resulting in the issuance of 5,172,942 
units at a price of $0.29 per unit, for gross proceeds of $1,500. Each unit consisted of one common 
share and one common share purchase warrants. See Note 14 for details of the warrants. 

13. Share-Based Compensation 

(a) Stock Options 

Accounting Policy: 

The Company grants options to directors, officers, employees and service providers under the Company’s 
Omnibus Incentive Plan. The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognized as an expense 
over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. An individual is classified as an employee 
when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes (direct employee) or provides services similar 
to those performed by a direct employee, including directors of the Company. At each financial position 
reporting date, the amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share 
options that are expected to vest. In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and 
some or all of the goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, 
they are measured at fair value of the share-based payment. 
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No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest except for equity settled transactions for 
which vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition. 

Share options with a graded vesting schedule are accounted for as separate grants with different vesting 
periods and fair values. The fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the share purchase options were granted. The Black-Scholes 
option pricing model relies on a number of estimated inputs, such as the expected life of the option, the 
volatility of the underlying share price, and the risk-free rate of return. Changes in the underlying estimated 
inputs may result in materially different results. 

Where the terms of an equity settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense 
as if the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognized for any modification which 
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
employee as measured at the date of modification. 

When an equity award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vests on the date of the cancellation and any expense 
not recognized for the award is recognized immediately. 

 The Board of Directors has the discretion to determine to whom options will be granted, the number and 
exercise price of such options and the terms and time frames in which the options will vest and be 
exercisable. The exercise price of the options must be no less than the closing market price of the Common 
Shares on the day preceding the grant. The maximum number of common shares issuable upon the exercise 
or redemption and settlement of all awards granted shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding 
shares at the time of granting of such award less the number of shares reserved for issuance under all other 
security based compensation arrangements of the Company. The following types of awards can be issued: 
stock options, share appreciation rights, restricted share units and other performance awards. 

 The following table summarizes the stock options that remain outstanding as at December 31, 2020: 

  

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company granted 9,877,500 stock options to employees 
and consultants. The stock options granted had exercise prices between $0.165 and $0.32, have expiry 
dates of five years and vest over three years. The weighted average fair value of the stock options granted 
was $0.14. There were no options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2020. Goods and services 
provided by consultants could not be measured reliably and therefore the presumption under IFRS 2 was 
rebutted.   
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 The fair values of the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were 
determined on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 
assumptions: 

  

 Volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company. The expected life in years 
represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate is 
based on Canada government bonds with a remaining term equal to the expected life of the options. 

Incentive stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2020 are summarized as follows: 

 

 The Company recorded share-based compensation expense related to the stock options of $2,421 for the 
year ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $10,448). The expense has been charged to the 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 

(b) Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) 

Accounting Policy: 

RSUs are equity-settled share-based payments. RSUs are measured at their fair value on the date of grant 
based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date prior to the grant, and is recognized as 
share-based compensation expense over the vesting period with a corresponding credit to share reserves. 
Upon the release of RSUs, the related share reserve is transferred to share capital. 
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 The Board of Directors has the discretion to determine to whom restricted share units (“RSUs”) will be 
granted, the number granted, and the terms and time frames in which the RSUs will vest and be settled.   

  

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 550,000 RSUs to various directors and 
management, that vest over two years, and settle in Common Shares. On February 6, 2020, 375,000 RSUs 
were issued, vesting February 6, 2021. On August 3, 2020, 175,000 RSUs were issued, vesting August 3, 
2021. The Company recorded share-based compensation expense related to the RSUs of $596 for the year 
ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $1,295) to the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss. 375,000 restricted stock units vested (175,000 in April and 200,000 in December) 
triggering the issuance of 375,000 Common Shares, for no cash proceeds. 

14. Warrants 

Accounting Policy: 

The Company uses the residual value approach in respect of unit offerings whereby the amount assigned 
to the warrant is the excess of the unit price over the trading price of the Company’s shares at the date of 
issuance, if any, to a maximum fair value of the warrant determined by using the Black-Scholes Option-
Pricing Model. Warrants classified as equity instruments are not subsequently re-measured. 
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(a) During February 2020, the Company closed a private placement resulting in the issuance of 10,344,827 
units at a price of $0.29 per unit, for gross proceeds of $3,000. Each unit consisted of one Common Share 
and one common share purchase warrant. The warrants were valued using the residual value method at 
$164 (Note 12). 

(b) As noted in Note 11, on April 9, 2020, the 6,250,000 September Warrants were amended to an exercise 
price of $0.17 per Common Share and immediately exercised by the holders resulting in proceeds of $1,063 
to the Company. 

(c) During June 2020, the Company closed a private placement resulting in the issuance of 11,351,351 units 
at a price of $0.185 per unit, for gross proceeds of $2,100. Each unit consisted of one Common Share and 
one common share purchase warrant. The warrants were valued using the residual value method at $Nil 
(Note 12). 

15. Long-term Investments 

Accounting Policy: 

Marketable securities are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at fair value 
through profit and loss. 

On November 27, 2017, the Company purchased 1,666,667 units of Avricore (Note 10), a related party, 
pursuant to a subscription agreement dated November 7, 2017. Each unit entitled the holder to 1,666,667 
common shares and 1,666,667 common share purchase warrants. The common shares of Avricore are 
traded on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol “AVCR.”  

Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at the price of $0.20 per share. The 
warrants expire November 27, 2022, or earlier if the accelerated exercise provision is enacted. If the closing 
sales price trades at $0.25 or higher for 10 consecutive trading days, and Avricore, within 5 days of such 
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event, provides notice by way of news release to the holders of the warrants of the early expiry of the 
warrants, then the warrants shall expire 30 days from the date of notice. As at December 31, 2020, no 
notice has been issued.  

 

 

During the period from October 5 to October 13, 2020, the Company sold its shares in Avricore. As at 
September 30, 2020, the fair value of the shares had increased by $200 to $250 from December 31, 2019, 
with this amount being recorded as a gain on change in fair value. The total sale amount of the 1,666,667 
shares totaled $206, resulting in a loss on sale of $44. 

The fair value of the warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the 
following assumptions: expected life of 1.91 years, risk free interest rate of 0.20%, expected annualized 
volatility of 234.11% and Nil expected dividend yield. The fair value was determined to be $0.81 (December 
31, 2019 - $0.02).  

16. Income Taxes 

Accounting Policy: 

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of current and deferred taxes not recognized in 
other comprehensive loss or equity. 

Current tax assets and liabilities 

Current tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating 
to the current or prior reporting periods that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on 
taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based 
on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period. Current tax assets arise when the amount paid for taxes exceeds the amount due for the current 
and prior periods. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective periods of 
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realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred 
tax liabilities are always provided for in full. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized 
against future taxable income. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Company has a 
right and intention to offset current tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in 
profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive loss or equity, 
in which case the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive loss or equity, respectively. 

Significant estimates are required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes and uncertain 
tax positions. Some of these estimates are based on interpretations of existing tax laws or regulations. 
Various internal and external factors may have favorable or unfavorable effects on the Company’s future 
effective tax rate. These factors include, but are not limited to, changes in tax laws, regulations and/or rates, 
changing interpretations of existing tax laws or regulations, changes in estimates of prior years’ items, 
results of tax audits by tax authorities, future levels of research and development spending, and changes in 
overall levels of pre-tax earnings. The realization of the Company’s deferred tax assets is primarily 
dependent on whether the Company is able to generate sufficient capital gains and taxable income prior to 
expiration of any loss carry forward balance. The recognition of a deferred tax asset requires significant 
judgment with regard to management’s assessment of the long-range forecast of future taxable income 
and the evaluation of tax planning initiatives. Adjustments to the deferred tax assets recognized are made 
to earnings in the period when such assessments are made. 

The Company records tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon management’s 
evaluation of the facts, circumstances and information available at the reporting date. There is inherent 
uncertainty in quantifying income tax positions. The Company has recorded tax benefits for those tax 
positions where it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will result upon ultimate settlement with a tax 
authority that has all relevant information. For those income tax positions where it is not more likely than 
not that a tax benefit will result, no tax benefit has been recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

While the Company has recorded a consolidated net loss for accounting and income tax purposes in 2020 
and 2019, there is $27 (2019 - $nil) in income tax expenses recorded in these financial statements related 
to rent revenue.   
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The income taxes shown in the Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss differ from the amounts 
obtained by applying statutory rates to the loss before income taxes due to the following: 

 

Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2020 and 2019 
are comprised of the following: 
 

  

 Deferred tax assets are not recognized on the following temporary differences as it is not probable that 
 sufficient taxable profits will be available to utilize such assets: 

  

Tax pool balances consist of Scientific Research and Experimental Development qualified expenditures of 
$1,245 which may be carried forward indefinitely and deducted against any Canadian business income. 

The Company has non-capital losses carry forward of approximately $90,699 at December 31, 2020 
(December 31, 2019 - $69,600) for which a deferred tax asset has not been recognized. These losses may 

December 31, December 31,

2020 2019

Statutory tax rate 27% 27%

$ $

Loss for the year before income taxes (42,952)               (113,005)             

Expected income tax recovery (11,597)               (30,511)               

Non-deductible items 820                       3,217                   

Non-taxable equity pick up from Joint Venture (845)                     (5,290)                  

Non-taxable portion of capital gain on Joint Venture investment 3,686                   3,378                   

Non-deductible portion of capital loss -                            801                       

Changes in recognition of deferred tax assets 8,133                   27,308                 

Income tax expense (recovery) 196                       (1,098)                  
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be carried forward to apply against future year income tax for Canadian income tax purposes, subject to 
the final determination by taxation authorities, expire as follows: 

  

17. Leases 

Accounting Policy: 

The Company’s lease accounting policy in accordance with IFRS 16 is provided below. 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration.  

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently depreciated using the straight-line 
method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset 
or the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is subject to impairment assessment and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of its associated lease liability.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the Company's incremental borrowing rate or rate implicit in the 
lease. The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
The incremental borrowing rate determined for the Company for the leases in transition is within a range 
of 6% - 8%. The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in 
an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under 
a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in net earnings if the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset is nil.  

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if there is an increase in the scope of a lease and 
a corresponding increase in consideration, such as adding the right to use one or more underlying assets in 
a contract. Otherwise, a lease modification is considered a remeasurement of the lease liability, as discussed 
above.   
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Lease payments that depend on performance measures or usage of the underlying asset are considered 
variable lease payments, which are expensed as incurred. 

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 
(lease term of 12 months or less) and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. The Company 
recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

The Company’s lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments discounted using 
the applicable incremental borrowing rate or rate implicit in the lease. Determining the discount rate 
(incremental borrowing rate) requires significant judgment and may have a significant quantitative impact 
on lease liability valuations. Many of the Company’s lease liabilities contain one or several lease extension 
clauses, and could reasonably be extended beyond the lease extensions outlined in the contract. 
Determining the length of the lease to be used in the present value calculation of the lease obligation 
requires significant judgement and may have significant impact on lease liability valuations.  

The Company’s leases consist primarily of land, office space, as well as miscellaneous production and other 

equipment. Information about the right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities are seen below. 

a) Right-of-Use Assets 

 

As noted above in Note 6, the ROU Land asset is part of the Metro Vancouver facility and was impaired by 
$3,210 during the year ended December 31, 2020. There was no change to the related liability on the lease. 
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b) Lease Liabilities 

The following table reconciles the opening and ending balances of the lease liabilities: 

 

 The Company expects the following maturities of its undiscounted lease liabilities: 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2020 an amount of $263 (December 31, 2019 - $53) has been recorded 
in operating costs for the Company related to variable lease payments, and amounts relating to short term 
leases, and leases for low value assets.  

18. Revenue 

Accounting Policy: 

The Company generates revenue primarily from the sale of cannabis, cannabis related products and 
provision of services. The Company uses the following five-step contract-based analysis of transactions to 
determine if, when and how much revenue can be recognized: 

1. Identify the contract with a customer; 
2. Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract; 
3. Determine the transaction price; 
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract; and 
5. Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies the performance obligation(s). 

 

Revenue from the sale of cannabis is generally recognized when control over the goods has been 
transferred to the customer. Payment for medical sales is typically due prior to shipment. Payment for 
wholesale transactions is due within a specified time period as permitted by the underlying agreement and 
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the Company’s credit policy upon the transfer of goods to the customer. The Company generally satisfies 
its performance obligation and transfers control to the customer upon delivery and acceptance by the 
customer. Revenue is recorded at the estimated amount of consideration to which the Company expects 
to be entitled. 

Effective October 17, 2018, Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) began levying an excise tax on the sale of 
medical and consumer cannabis products. The Company becomes liable for these excise duties when 
cannabis products are delivered to the customer. The excise taxes payable is the higher of (i) a flat-rate duty 
which is imposed when a cannabis product is packaged, and (ii) an ad valorem duty that is imposed when a 
cannabis product is delivered to the customer. Effective May 1, 2019, excise tax calculated on edible 
cannabis products, cannabis extracts and cannabis topicals will prospectively be calculated as a flat rate 
based on the quantity of total tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) contained in the final product. There were no 
changes in the legislation in calculating excise taxes for fresh cannabis, dried cannabis, seeds and plants. 
Where the excise tax has been billed to customers, the Company has reflected the excise tax as part of 
revenue in accordance with IFRS 15. Net revenue from sale of goods, as presented on the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss, represents revenue from the sale of goods less applicable excise taxes. 
Given that the excise tax payable/paid to CRA cannot be reclaimed and is not always billed to customers, 
the Company recognizes that the excise tax is an operating cost that affects gross margin to the extent that 
it is not recovered from its customers. 

 A summary of the Company’s sales by product line is provided in the table below: 

  

19. General and Administrative Expenses 
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20. Disposal of interest in Joint Venture  

Accounting Policy: 

 A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Company and other parties undertake an 
economic activity that is subject to joint control (i.e. when the strategic, financial and operating policy 
decisions relating to the activities of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control). 

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures establish the criteria 
for accounting for joint ventures. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 
The equity method involves recording the initial investment at cost and subsequently adjusting the carrying 
value of the investment for the proportionate share of the profit or loss, other comprehensive income or 
loss and any other changes in the joint venture’s net assets such as dividends. At each balance sheet date, 
the Company considers whether there is objective evidence of impairment in the joint venture. If there is 
such evidence, the Company will determine the amount of impairment to record, if any, in relation to the 
joint venture. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Company’s share of the investee’s income, expenses and 
equity movements. Where the Company transacts with its joint ventures or associates, unrealized profits 
or losses are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s interest in the joint venture or associate. 

In 2017, the Company and Village Farms International, Inc. (“Village Farms”) formed Pure Sunfarms Corp. 
(“Pure Sunfarms”), a privately held company incorporated pursuant to the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia). The purpose of Pure Sunfarms is to pursue largescale, low cost cannabis production in 
Canada. Village Farms and the Company each began with a 50% ownership interest in Pure Sunfarms in the 
form of common shares. The Company concluded that the agreement constituted a joint arrangement 
where joint control is shared with Village Farms and therefore has accounted for Pure Sunfarms using the 
equity method. On November 2, 2020, the Company completed the sale of its 41.28% interest in its Joint 
Venture, Pure Sunfarms for consideration of $79,900, as discussed below. 

 
The carrying value of the investment in Pure Sunfarms as at the date of sale of November 2, 2020: 
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 Summarized financial information for Pure Sunfarms is set out below:  

   

During November 2019, two separate disputes arose between the Company and Village Farms in regard to 
operations at Pure Sunfarms. The disputes related to whether the Company was obliged to make a cash 
payment of $5,900 to Pure Sunfarms under the D2 Option Agreement and whether the Company was 
obliged to pay Pure Sunfarms the difference between the purchase price applicable to the Company and 
the average price paid by third parties for inventories that the Company declined to purchase from Pure 
Sunfarms in accordance with the 2018 Supply Agreement.  During the year ended December 31, 2019, 
Village farms sought to have 5,940,000 shares of Pure Sunfarms that were held in escrow for the Company 
surrendered for cancellation in relation to the D2 Option Agreement and the Company recognized an 
expense of $7,774 in other expenses and $357 in GST for the inventory declined by the Company, which 
was sold by Pure Sunfarms to third parties under the provision of the 2018 Supply Agreement. 
 
On March 6, 2020, the Company completed a Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with 
its Joint Venture partner. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the Supply Agreements (collectively, the 
"Supply Agreements") entered into between the Company and Pure Sunfarms dated December 21, 2018 
(the “2018 Supply Agreement”), which was for the 40% supply provision by Pure Sunfarms to the Company 
in 2019, at a guaranteed price for 2019, and dated March 29, 2019, which was for the 25% supply provision 
by Pure Sunfarms, at a guaranteed price adjusted on a semi-annual basis to the Company from 2020 to the 
end of 2022, respectively, were both terminated effective as of December 31, 2019, and the Company was 
released from all previous, current, and future obligations, liabilities and payments thereunder. The 
termination of the Supply Agreements removed the uncertainty regarding the potential obligation of the 
Company to make any payments to Pure Sunfarms under the terms of those Agreements and provided the 
Company with full flexibility regarding future access to, and supply of, wholesale cannabis. In exchange, the 
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Company forfeited all amounts due from Pure Sunfarms pursuant to a shareholder’s loan of $13,000 plus  
accrued interest of $1,062 that the Company previously advanced to Pure Sunfarms. The Company also 
recognized an expense of $7,774 in other expenses and $357 in GST for the inventory declined by the 
Company, which was sold by Pure Sunfarms to third parties under this provision of the 2018 Supply 
Agreement. The remaining $5,931 of the principal and interest receivable was recorded as a loss on the 
settlement of the 2018 Supply Agreement in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. This was 
effective as of December 31, 2019. 
 
On March 6, 2020, also as part of the Settlement Agreement, the Company issued a promissory note to 
Pure Sunfarms in the amount of $952 (Note 10) which bore interest at a rate of 6.2% per annum and was 
to mature on the earlier of (a) December 31, 2020; (b) the Company ceasing to be a shareholder of Pure 
Sunfarms; or (c) the acquisition by any party of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Company. The 
principal amount is the amount owed by the Company to Pure Sunfarms as remittance for bulk sales under 
the 2018 Supply Agreement. 
 
As part of the Settlement Agreement the Company also transferred 2.5% of its Pure Sunfarms equity to 
Village Farms. The Parties agreed that the $8,000 provided by Village Farms to Pure Sunfarms in 2020 was 
to be converted into additional common shares of Pure Sunfarms. Upon completion of this conversion and 
the other transactions referred to above, the Company’s share of income dropped to a 42.60% equity  
interest. The Company recognized a loss on dilution of ownership of $2,049. 
 
In April 2020, Village Farms completed an additional investment in the Joint Venture of $8,000, which 
reduced the Company’s equity position in the Joint Venture by 1.32% to 41.28%. A gain was recognized on 
dilution of $1,199 due to the Company’s equity pickup of the $8,000 investment made into the Joint 
Venture. 
 
Pursuant to the share purchase agreement, completed on November 2, 2020, the Company sold its 
36,958,500 common shares to Village Farms, representing all of the remaining shares of Pure Sunfarms not 
previously held by Village Farms, for an aggregate purchase price of $79,900 (the "Purchase Price"). The 
Company received $60,000 of the Purchase Price in cash at closing and acquired a secured promissory note 
to the Company in the principal amount of $19,900 (the "Note"). The Note will mature in six months from 
the date hereof, is secured against a certain number of common shares of Pure Sunfarms held by the Joint 
Venture partner and bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum. In addition, the Company's obligations 
under a promissory note in the principal amount of $952, plus $39 in interest, that the Company had issued 
to PSF on March 6, 2020, were settled without any payment.  
 
As a result of the sale transaction on November 2, 2020, the Company recorded a gain of $13,423, which 
was net of $585 in related legal and consulting fees. 

 As at December 31, 2020, $386 in interest had been accrued on the $19,900 Note. 

21. Segmented Information 

Accounting Policy: 

Operating segments are components of the Company that engage in business activities which generate 
revenues and incur expenses (including intercompany revenues and expenses related to transactions 
conducted with other components of the Company). The operations of an operating segment are distinct 
and the operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), the 
Company’s CEO, for the purposes of resource allocation decisions and assessing its performance. 
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Reportable segments are Operating segments whose revenues or profit/loss or total assets exceed ten 
percent or more of those of the combined entity. 

Key measures used by the CODM to assess performance and make resource allocation decisions include 
revenues, gross margin and net (loss) income. The Company’s operating results are divided into two 
reportable segments. The two reportable segments are (i) Cannabis; and (ii) Other. The Company primarily 
operates in the Cannabis segment. All revenues and non-current assets are generated in and located in 
Canada. 

 

22. Financial Instruments 

Accounting Policy: 

Under IFRS 9, financial instruments are measured either at fair value or amortized cost. 

Financial assets 

The Company classifies its financial assets initially at fair value at the time of acquisition. Subsequently, they 
are measured at amortized cost or at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). Upon initial recognition, 
management determines the classification of its financial assets based upon the purpose for which the 
financial assets were acquired. Measurement and classification of financial assets is determined based on 
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics 
of the financial asset. Management may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial asset as 
measured at fair value through profit or loss to prevent a measurement or recognition inconsistency. 

Financial Liabilities 

The Company initially recognizes financial liabilities at fair value and are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost. 
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Fair Value Hierarchy 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value are classified using a hierarchy that categorizes into three levels 
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The three levels of hierarchy are: 

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly; and 

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

The individual fair values attributed to the different components of a financing transaction, notably 
marketable securities, derivative financial instruments, convertible debentures and loans, are determined 
using valuation techniques. The Company uses judgment to select the methods used to make certain 
assumptions and derive estimates. Significant judgment is also used when attributing fair values to each 
component of a transaction upon initial recognition, measuring fair values for certain instruments on a 
recurring basis and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments subsequently carried at amortized cost. 
These valuation estimates could be significantly different because of the use of judgment and the inherent 
uncertainty in estimating the fair value of instruments that are not quoted or observable in an active 
market. 

Financial instruments are measured either at fair value or at amortized cost. The table below lists the 
valuation methods used to determine fair value of each financial instrument. 

 The carrying value of the cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable (excluding statutory receivable 
balances), due from related parties, refundable deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, , deferred 
payment, payable to joint venture and amounts due to related parties, approximate the fair value because 
of the short-term nature of these instruments. These are carried at amortized cost. 

The carrying values of the financial instruments at December 31, 2020 are summarized in the following 
table: 
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The Company’s financial instruments that are recorded at fair value are presented in the following table: 

  

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 (a) Currency risk 

 The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 

 (b) Credit risk 

 Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss to the Company if a customer or third-party to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at 
December 31, 2020 is the carrying value of its financial assets. The Company’s cash and redeemable short-
term investment certificates are largely held in large Canadian financial institutions. The Company does not 
have any asset backed commercial paper. The Company maintains cash deposits with Schedule A financial 
institutions, which from time to time may exceed federally insured limits. With regards to receivables, the 
Company is not exposed to significant credit risk as the Company’s sales are to government bodies or are 
typically paid at the time of the transaction. The Company provides credit to some of its customers in the 
normal course of business. The majority of the trade receivables held are with crown corporations.  

 (c) Interest rate risk 

 Interest rate risk is the risk the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. Financial assets and liabilities with variable interest rates expose the 
Company to cash flow interest rate risk. The Company does not hold any financial liabilities with variable 
interest rates. The Company does maintain bank accounts and redeemable short-term investment 
certificates which earn interest at variable rates, but it does not believe it is currently subject to any 
significant interest rate risk. 
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 (d) Liquidity risk 

 The composition of the Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities was as follows: 

  

 In addition to the commitments outlined in Note 17 - Leases, the Company has the following gross 
contractual obligations as at December 31, 2020, which are expected to be payable in the following 
respective periods: 

 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. As at December 31, 2020, the Company had working capital of $32,377 (December 31, 2019 – 
$11,259 negative working capital).  

 The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and resources to 
ensure that it has sufficient liquidity to settle obligations and liabilities when they are due. Management 
monitors its operating requirements and prepares budgets and cash flow forecasts to identify cash flow 
needs for general corporate and working capital purposes. The Company’s ability to fund its operating 
requirements depends on future operating performance and cash flows, which are subject to economic, 
financial, competitive, business, and regulatory conditions, and other factors, some of which are beyond its 
control, such as the potential impact of COVID-19. The Company’s primary short-term liquidity needs are 
to fund its net operating losses, capital expenditures to maintain existing facilities, debt repayments, and 
lease payments. The Company’s medium-term liquidity needs primarily relate to debt repayments and lease 
payments. The Company’s long-term liquidity needs primarily relate to potential strategic plans. 
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 In an effort to manage liquidity prudently while the Company moves toward profitability and positive cash 
flows, the Company has taken the following steps: 

 - During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company announced a re-structuring plan to reduce 
operating expenses and further streamline capital investments. As a result, the Company decreased its sales 
and marketing expenditures by 64% and general and administrative expenditures by 34% during the year 
ended December 31, 2020 as compared to December 31, 2019. This was accomplished by downsizing its 
employee base, terminating consulting, loan facility, sublease and cultivation agreements with related 
parties, and reduced activities to care and maintenance at the Naturals and Avalite facilities. Subsequent to 
year end the Company announced the closure of its Metro Vancouver facility.  

 - During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company settled payable, loans and interest totalling 
$3,923 with common shares of the Company. 

 - During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company raised $5,600 by the issuance of 24,141,778 
shares through private placements and the ATM. 

 - In April of 2020, the Company raised $1,063 on the exercise of 6,250,00 warrants. 

 - During October of 2020, the Company sold its marketable shares held in Avricore for $206. 

 - In November 2020, the Company sold its interest in Pure Sunfarms, resulting in net cash from the sale of 
$80,306. 

 - In November of 2020, the Company repaid the convertible debenture for $25,568. This substantially 
cleared the Company’s statement of financial position of debt and reduced the future interest payments on 
the debenture. 

 These initiatives have provided the Company with increased liquidity and flexibility to meet its financial 
commitments and continue operations. 

23. Capital Management 

 As at December 31, 2020, the capital structure of the Company consists of $98,274 (December 31, 2019 - 
$156,621) in shareholders’ equity and debt. 

 The Company’s objective when managing its capital is to ensure sufficient equity financing to fund its 
planned operations in a way that maximizes the shareholder return given the assumed risks of its 
operations. The Company considers shareholders’ equity as capital. Through the ongoing management of 
its capital, the Company will modify the structure of its capital based on changing economic conditions. In 
doing so, the Company may issue new shares. Annual budgeting is the primary tool used to manage the 
Company’s capital. Updates are made as necessary to both capital expenditure and operational budgets in 
order to adapt to changes in risk factors, proposed expenditure programs and market conditions.  
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24. Subsequent Events 

 Settlement of Deferred Payment 

 On January 13, 2021, the Company settled all outstanding amount owing to the Vendors of Verdélite in 
connection with the Company’s 2018 acquisition. $9,000 was paid, fully settling all remaining amounts 
owing including accrued interest. As a result, the Company no longer has any liability to the Vendors with 
respect to the purchase of Verdélite. 

Receipt of Final Payment for Sale of Joint Venture 

On February 9, 2021, the Company received from the Joint Venture partner $19,900 plus $622 in interest, 
representing full repayment of the promissory note issued by the Joint Venture partner to the Company as 
part of its purchase of the Company’s interest in Pure Sunfarms. This was the final payment due as part of 
this transaction. 

Restructuring 

On February 18, 2021, the Company announced that it will cease operations at its cannabis production 
facility in Metro Vancouver, British Columbia effective March 31, 2021 and will consider strategic 
alternatives for this facility. Closing the facility is part of the Company’s revised business strategy and 
transition away from the value segment of the cannabis market towards science-driven product 
development and defined-scale production of premium cannabis at Verdélite.  
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